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1
            Prologue

            
        On Homesickness
      

         

         A book’s origins are elusive. Try to follow its roots into the soil of its making and you will find they branch almost infinitely. But two images remain vivid. In the summer of 2016 the news sites were full of photos of life jackets on Greek beaches, thousands of them, discarded by migrants who had crossed the Aegean from Turkey: great moraines of orange, yellow, blue and black. Months earlier, while walking in the desert in Arizona, I had come across heaps of rucksacks left at roadsides and in dry creek beds by migrants from Central America and elsewhere, who had crossed the nearby Mexico border clandestinely. Seven thousand miles apart, those twin accumulations were at once peculiar to our own era and eloquent of a whole history of human displacement.

         I began to think I had been wrong: the main cause of our unhappiness was not loneliness, as I had always believed, but a desire to be somewhere else. It occurred to me that the lives of an earlier kind of displaced person, political deportees sent to a designated location, could show me things that accounts of migrancy, banishment 2or confinement alone could not: about the word ‘home’, and the behaviour of empires, and the conflict between leaving and staying that seems to animate the world.

         This form of exile, which can be traced back to Ancient Rome, underwent a revival in the late nineteenth century. We might call it imperial exile, since one of its requirements is that the exiling power controls territory far from its heartland. So it was not a coincidence that the three people who eventually became my subjects lived at a time when European empire-building was at its most rapacious, or that their places of exile were remote islands. A French anarchist named Louise Michel; a Zulu king named Dinuzulu kaCetshwayo; a Ukrainian revolutionary named Lev Shternberg: each sacrificed freedom and home to larger ideas of freedom and home: Michel as a figurehead of the short-lived socialist government known as the Paris Commune, Dinuzulu as an enemy of British colonialism in Zululand, and Shternberg as a militant campaigner for the overthrow of tsarism in Russia.

         I was drawn to them because their lives were shaped by three winds that blow strongly today – Nationalism, Autocracy, Imperialism – and because of the way each of them responded to their sentence personally; how they seemed to absorb the fracturing effects of exile, allowing the loss of their homeland to sharpen their sense of duty rather than blunt it. I admired them, especially their ability to keep one eye on the horizon – that is, the future – from the islands to which they were banished: New Caledonia in the South Pacific in Michel’s case; St Helena in the South Atlantic in Dinuzulu’s; and Sakhalin, off the far-eastern coast of Siberia, in Shternberg’s.

         Of the three, Michel alone could be described as famous, and even her name isn’t often heard outside France. As for their places of exile, only St Helena was at all familiar to me, and purely because of its association with an earlier exile, Napoleon Bonaparte. These three 3islands appeared to lie far outside the mainstream of history; but in Arizona I’d learnt that the edge was precisely where the power of the metropole – Paris, London, St Petersburg, Washington D.C., Rome – was often most brazenly and revealingly expressed. Go to those three islands, I thought, and you might begin to understand not only what exile meant for your subjects, but something about the nature of displacement itself.

         One way of looking at this book is as a collection of stories pieced together, in the field, from lives shattered by exile. But in making the three journeys at its heart, I set out as a biographer only in a limited sense. It was less the life’s course I was interested in tracing than the cracks in that life set off by the experience of exile. As I travelled I saw how those cracks intruded, continued to intrude, deep into the lives of others. The people I encountered, the living and the dead, often turned out to be exiles themselves, of one sort or another, sometimes yearning for a belonging that eluded them, sometimes living at peace with their state of unbelonging.

         Nearly 2,000 years ago the Roman poet Ovid, whom I came to think of as a guiding spirit overseeing my three journeys, was exiled to the city of Tomis on the Black Sea (the modern-day resort of Constanţa, Romania). Although the reasons for his banishment – ‘a poem and an error’ – remain hazy, the long, yearning, self-pitying epistolary poems he wrote during those years are among the founding texts of literary exile. Fearing that he will die ‘unmourned, unhonoured, in a barbarian land’ (in Peter Green’s translation), the poet goes so far as to draft his own epitaph:

         
            
               I who lie here,1 sweet Ovid, poet of tender passions,

               fell victim to my own sharp wit.

               Passer-by, if you’ve ever been in love, don’t grudge me

               the traditional prayer: ‘May Ovid’s bones lie soft!’

            

         

         4But Ovid’s longing was not unique. Tomis was a troubled settlement; natives of the city were frequently abducted by local bandits, ‘driven off, hands tied behind them, gazing back in vain at fields and home’.2 That last word reminds us that while the victim of banishment is usually forced to leave his world’s centre for its periphery, the place to which he is banished is invariably someone else’s centre. ‘Here, I’m the barbarian,’ Ovid acknowledges.

         By 1914 all of the Pacific and almost all of Africa had been colonised, and one of the tools of that vast occupation was penal expatriation. Whether they were common convicts or political dissidents, exiles were rarely just prisoners; they were at once machines for extracting wealth from foreign soil and flags planted in that soil. Deportation and coerced settlement have always been part of the arsenal of empire – even Ovid, banished to the edge of the Roman world, appreciated that he was not merely an exile but a ‘colonist of a troubled frontier post’.3 Sometimes the colonised and the exiled found common cause. During the ‘Kanak Insurrection’, for instance, Louise Michel, banished to New Caledonia for life, was able to see the islands’ indigenous people as allies with a common foe: a French colonial government that viewed the Communards and the Kanaks alike as different species of barbarian to be tamed.

         This book, which was conceived as a reflection on exile, became just as much a book about empire, because the two have always gone hand in hand. It is also, therefore, about the solidarities that formed between those twin victims of empire: the déporté and the indigène; the banished citizen and the colonised subject.
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         In 1688 a young medical student from Berne named Johannes Hofer wrote a thesis entitled Dissertatio Medica de Nostalgia, oder Heimwehe 5(‘a medical dissertation on nostalgia, or homesickness’). In Hofer’s sense, nostalgia – a word he coined – did not contain its modern meaning of sentimental longing: it was something far more deadly, and it was in order to pathologise the ailment that he came up with this new name for what he recognised as a peculiar set of symptoms.

         ‘There came to my mind the stories of youths thus afflicted’,4 he wrote, ‘that unless they had been brought back to their native land, whether in a fever or consumed by the “wasting disease”, they had met their last day on foreign shores.’ As if the sundering of the body from its rightful co-ordinates might kill a person as surely as if they had been teleported to an oxygenless planet.

         In German, Heimweh; in French, mal du pays – homesickness; longing for one’s homeland – but the condition, Hofer noted, ‘lacks a particular name in medicine’. Hence ‘nostalgia’, from the ancient Greek nostos, a homeward journey of the kind made by Odysseus; and the combining form algos, denoting pain. The pain of being unable to make the homeward journey. Hofer describes it as ‘grief for the lost charm of the native land’. It ‘originates by arousing especially the uncommon and ever-present idea of the recalled native land’. He describes the case of a fellow student from Berne, who, having gone to Basel to study, ‘suffering from sadness for considerable time, finally fell victim to this disease’. Since he appeared to be dying, it was decided to return him to his home. ‘He was scarcely some few miles from our city,’ Hofer continues, ‘when all the symptoms already abated … and he was restored to his whole sane self.’

         The condition was temporal as well as spatial; what had been lost was not only the homeland but the life that should have been lived there.

         The symptoms: ‘Continued sadness, meditation only of the Fatherland, disturbed sleep either wakeful or continuous, decrease of strength, hunger, thirst, senses diminished, and cares or even 6palpitations of the heart, frequent sighs, also stupidity of the mind – attending to nothing hardly, other than an idea of the Fatherland.’ As for an antidote, Hofer suggests ‘internal hypnotic emulsions’ or ‘external cephalic balsams’; but there is really only one sure cure: ‘hope of returning to the Fatherland must be given as soon as the strength seems somewhat equal to bearing the annoyances of a return journey’.

         In his poems from Tomis, Ovid returns again and again to the effect of his banishment on his health: ‘Neither terrain nor water, air nor climate suit me / an unending lassitude seeps through my frame.’5 Elsewhere he describes his sentence as a kind of dismemberment: ‘I felt myself ripped asunder as though I’d lost a limb …’6

         Not for nothing did Hofer describe his repatriated student as having returned to his ‘whole’ (integraeque) self.
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         I suggested that this book could be seen as an attempt to recompose lives shattered by exile. But the journeys I describe, theirs and mine, reminded me that no life, no self, is a unity, however sealed off from history it might appear to be. While I was travelling, my father became ill, and his illness and decline, I realise, have coloured what follows. Though this is not a book about death or grief, every travel book is a kind of allegory. One reason stories of exile move us is that they seem to acknowledge the unhealable ruptures in our own lives – separation and loss, bereavement – even if we ourselves have never left the village of our birth.

         
            
280Notes

            1 ‘I who lie here’: Ovid, Tristia, III.3.73

            2 ‘driven off’: ibid., III.10.62

            3 ‘troubled frontier post’: ibid., IV.1.85

            4 ‘There came to my mind’: Hofer, ‘Medical Dissertation on Nostalgia’

            5 ‘Neither terrain nor water’: Tristia, III.8.23

            6 ‘I felt myself’: ibid., I.3.73
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11
            The Red Flag

            
        Louise Michel
      

         

         Sometime around 1840 two little girls stand on a rickety homemade stage in a garden in rural France. One of them, skinny and sunburnt, clothes held together by pins, is clasping her hands tightly behind her back, as if she is roped to a stake. The other, her cousin, kneels at her feet, then stands back, wide eyed. As the imaginary flames take hold, the first girl takes a deep breath, then screams at the top of her lungs: ‘Vive la République!’1

         When I picture Louise Michel, she is either a middle-aged woman in sun-greyed black crêpe, looking out to sea from a Pacific island; or she is this Louise – Louisette, as she was known – in the grounds of Chateau Vroncourt, pretending to be, say, the Christian reformer John Hus as he is burnt at the stake. 12

         
            
[image: ]Chateau Vroncourt, undated postcard: author’s own

            

         

         13The chateau, ‘between the forest and the plain’,2 in the Haute-Marne, 170 miles east of Paris, was austere grey with a square grey tower at each corner. The villagers of Vroncourt called it la Tombe because of its sparsity of windows. ‘I am what is known as a bastard,’3 Michel wrote, ‘but those who bestowed upon me the sorry gift of life did so freely; they loved each other.’ Her mother, Marianne, was a maid in the Demahis household, where she herself had grown up, and it was with her and M. and Mme Demahis that Louisette spent her childhood. ‘My mother was then a blonde, with soft and smiling blue eyes and long, curly hair.4 She was so fresh and pretty that her friends used to say to her laughingly, “It is impossible for this ugly child to be yours.”’ Her father seems to have been a wayward Demahis son, Laurent, who paid little attention to his daughter. Marianne, conversely, would remain the most important figure in her life, no matter the distance between them.

         Pets: dogs and cats, a tortoise, a boar, an orphaned wolf. In the north tower she set up a study-cum-laboratory,5 shared with a ‘magnificent barn owl with phosphorescent eyes’ and ‘some darling bats who drank milk like little cats’. ‘The devil, if he exists, knows everything I tried there: alchemy, astrology, the summoning of spirits.’ In her tower she also wrote verses addressed to her literary hero, Victor Hugo, who was to remain a correspondent, champion – perhaps, briefly, lover – and friend until his death.

         Outside, at the end of the courtyard, was a pond framed by rosebushes, on which she sailed toy boats with her grandfather, Etienne-Charles, and where toads bred noisily in the spring. Vroncourt remained her archetypal idyll throughout her life, even if she would one day know another arcadia. ‘At the Tomb,6 near the hazel tree in a bastion of the wall, was a bench where my mother and grandmother used to come during the summer after the heat of the day.’

         
            My mother, to make Grandmother happy, had filled this corner of the garden with all kinds of rosebushes. While the two women talked I leaned on the wall. The garden was cool in the dew of the evening. The perfumes of all the flowers mingled and climbed up to the sky. The honeysuckle, the reseda, the roses, all exhaled sweet perfumes which joined each other.

         

         14The chateau was separated from the village of Vroncourt by a grassy plain; to the west were the woods and the hills of Suzerin, while east was the Demahis vineyard, screened by poplars. Even further east, on the road to Bourmont, stood Uncle Georges’ mill, with its pond and meadow, and beyond it a range of mountains made blue by distance. Paris, meanwhile, was not yet a dream, and New Caledonia – unheard of, 10,000 miles away – was beyond the frontier even of dreams.

         In autumn, with her mother and aunts, she would walk deep into the adjoining forest, and hear the knocking of axes and the snorts of wild boar. Forests and trees remained meaningful for her as emblems of sanctuary throughout her life on both sides of the world, while her love of animals – those owls, and boars, and wolves, later an army of cats – and her contempt for those who ill-treated them were of a part with the disquiet the young Michel increasingly felt about society beyond the chateau grounds.

         The children’s execution cries echoed out from the courtyard across the expanding ambit of her home: the north tower and the great hall and the bastion-niche where the honeysuckle grew; the vineyard and the forest; the town of Audeloncourt where her mother’s family lived; and the mountains in which all were cradled – like the postal address a child will write, beginning with their house and expanding beyond district and nation to continent, planet, solar system, universe … but always telescoping back to the address’s first line: Chateau Vroncourt.

         We learn the meaning of home when we must leave. She claimed she was never homesick for France, only for the dead, for her grandparents and her dear, suffering mother; but Vroncourt would never leave her. It was where she longed for even while she remained in France. Soon it would all be lost, irretrievably. In 1851, aged twenty-one, she heard news from Paris of the bloodshed that followed 15Louis-Napoléon’s coup: hundreds of protestors killed and thousands more transported to France’s colonies in French Guiana and Algeria. Nineteen years later, in 1870, the invading Prussian army, making its way to lay siege to the capital, would tear up her grandmother’s vineyard and fell the forest for firewood.
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         Published in 1886, her memoirs are preachy, earnest, mystical, airy in the sense of buoyantly untethered, and unsettling in their symbology of blood, fire, wolves, storms, oak trees and axes (she was a poet at heart if not on paper). The book can be dizzyingly evasive – zooming in on the minutest memory at one moment, only to pull out to an aerial viewpoint the next, often at a time when the action seems most fundamental to our understanding of her life and person.

         Its failings are partly a matter of authorial discretion, poor memory and inattention (she was writing it in Saint-Lazare prison, mainly in order to repay a debt to her friend Henri Rochefort). Michel writes at the outset that she will ‘leave in the shadows’ those who brought her up – her mother and grandparents – but in fact it is the book’s later elisions that are conspicuous, as if the weaver’s shuttle has been allowed to skip sections of the warp. The years between her arrival in Paris in 1856, aged twenty-six, and the declaration of the radical socialist government known as the Commune in 1871, for instance – the crucial years when the blade of her politics was being sharpened as her influence grew – are granted twenty pages, several of which describe the line-by-line progress of an opera she was writing.

         Sometimes it’s like reading a collage made out of scraps torn from the political posters she pasted up around Paris – everything declared in red capitals. At other times it’s as if she is addressing someone who had been alongside her; one who, knowing the major events, only 16needs to be filled in on the minutiae. Its most vivid passages, its most lovingly attentive, don’t concern the Commune, or her comrades, or politics at all, really, but instead linger on what I see, now, as the twin poles of her life: the Vroncourt of her childhood and the New Caledonia of her exile – specifically another forest, a place she called the Forest of the West.

         In 1853 the 23-year-old Michel opened a school in Audeloncourt, her mother’s village, a few miles south of Vroncourt. She never forgot her students – Little Mole, Big Rose, Tall Estelle, Lame Aricie, Eudoxie who ‘died in my arms during an epidemic’ – and their twice-daily rendition of the ‘Marseillaise’ with its children’s refrain, ‘We’ll take over this course / When our elders are no longer here’. Whenever the village priest led the prayer to the emperor – Domine, salvum fac Napoleunem – Michel warned her wards it was a sacrilege to pray for ‘that man’, Napoleon Bonaparte’s nephew, Louis-Napoléon, who had seized power two years earlier. Her ambition to go to Paris having been discovered, the concerned citizens of Audeloncourt denounced her as a republican. And what of it? Summoned by the town prefect, she was accused of insulting the emperor, and threatened with exile to France’s penal colony in French Guiana. She would be happy to set up a school there, she replied, and grateful for the fare. The threat went no further.

         In 1856, ‘the Tomb’ having been sold following her grandparents’ deaths, she left Vroncourt for Paris, teaching at the school of a Mme Vollier on rue du Château-d’Eau in the 10th arrondissement, until with money Marianne made from the sale of land she had been left by the Demahises, she was able to buy her own day school in Montmartre. ‘The poor woman,’7 she wrote of her mother’s sacrifice, ‘how little she got back for that money …’

         If her memoirs are taken at face value, her arrival in Paris did not mark a political awakening so much as a homecoming: it was 17where one such as she, with convictions such as hers, belonged. She recognised that Paris was ‘at the heart of affairs’8 but also a portal to the wider world (as it would prove to be, though not perhaps in the way she imagined). She arrived at a city in destitution, in a sort of moral chaos, with more than a third of its population classified as indigent. Understanding that civic planning was a form of civic control, in 1853 the emperor had the old city razed, with 20,000 buildings demolished. The former ramshackle, riddling alleys and streets were replaced by networks of straight boulevards inimical to the building of barricades and broad enough for horse-drawn cannon to move along two abreast. An anti-revolutionary metropolis. The workers, meanwhile, alienated from their capital, were consigned to outlying slums.

         It is a mistake to imagine a transforming moment, a single tripwire igniting her ‘radicalism’, but if we’re seeking its roots then Vroncourt is the place. Her grandparents, however peculiar in their crumbling chateau full of feral animals, had hardly been political outliers in Catholic Vroncourt, while Michel’s politics only ever bewildered and scared Marianne. It was not that her childhood world was unusual (it was unusual, but not that unusual); just that she was unusually sensitive to injustice, feeling powerfully the pain of other beings, animals particularly. ‘The dominant idea of an entire life can come from some random impression,’9 she would note in her memoirs:

         
            When I was very small, I saw a decapitated goose …The goose was walking about stiffly, and where its head had been its neck was a bruised and bloody wound. It was a white goose with its feathers spattered with blood, and it walked like a drunkard while its head, thrown into a corner, lay on the floor with its eyes closed.

         

         When, as an adult, Michel recalled those instances of animal mistreatment she beheld as a child, she found they had accrued an 18enlarged symbolic weight. Her life’s campaign was not ‘political’ – she had no interest in any kind of office – but simply to oppose the causes of suffering, which could hardly be clearer to her:

         
            The peasants sow and harvest the grain,10 but they do not always have bread. One woman told me how during a bad year – that is what they call a year when the monopolists starve the country – neither she, nor her husband, nor their four children were able to eat every day. Owning only the clothes on their backs, they had nothing more to sell. Merchants who had grain gave them no more credit, not even a few oats to make a little bread, and two of their children died.

         

         But it was the image of the blood-spattered, headless goose that haunted her. Blood: her obsession as a poet and a revolutionary. It was the price of freedom; she had seen this even as a teenager. In the years leading up to the Franco-Prussian War of 1870 and the founding of the Commune, she describes a capital beset by increasing paranoia even as it is energised by the prospect of renewal. She is associating with leading republicans and amusing herself by creeping after ‘some good bourgeois’ late one night, for the fun of scaring him. ‘And so here is Louise Michel,’11 she writes, in an ironic self-portrait. ‘She is a menace to society, for she has declared a hundred times that everyone should take part in the banquet of life …’

         She lived in near-poverty, reliant on her mother and friends for loans. Her school became a menagerie of animals: mice, a tortoise, a grass snake. It would not be the last time she would seek to revive Chateau Vroncourt. The children adored her – her liberalism and kindness. If she yearned for revolution, at this stage, it was for personal revolution, an overthrowing of the spirit of the provinces. It may have been simply living in Paris, in those years of squalor, with the empire seemingly ascendant, that caused her to see that actual 19revolution was necessary, that the Church of her childhood could not help, and that Napoleon III would not be defeated by even the goriest poetry. She campaigned for women’s labour rights, and became secretary of the Democratic Society for Moralisation, an organisation committed to finding jobs for women at a living wage. She was not alone among Parisians in scenting blood on the wind, and understood that equality meant the right to give up one’s life, as well as the right to education and a salary: ‘If the men hang back when the time comes,12 women will lead the way. And I’ll be there.’ When, in 1869, the anti-imperialist Victor Noir, a journalist at one of Henri Rochefort’s newspapers, was shot dead by an affronted cousin of the emperor’s, Michel took to wearing black; and she would wear it for the rest of her life. She would say it was simply that she never ceased to have something or someone to mourn; but black for Michel was more a uniform than it was a form of widow’s weeds – the uniform of her righteousness. It suited her.

         Following her maternal grandmother’s death in the late 1860s, she was joined in Paris by Marianne, but with ‘revolution’ imminent she rarely saw her: ‘I left her alone during many long evenings.13 Afterwards it was days, then months, then years. Can the mothers of revolutionaries ever be happy?’ For while she taught during the day, by night she and her associates met to discuss revolution. To Victor Hugo, newly returned from Guernsey, where he had been living in exile since publishing a scathing attack on Louis-Napoléon in 1850, she continued to send poem after poem, as she had as a girl; but now, she acknowledged, ‘the verses I sent him smelled of gunpowder’: ‘Do you hear the brazen thunder,’14 went one, ‘Behind the man who takes no side?’ Reluctance to take a side was unimaginable to her. As for Louis-Napoléon, that snake, that worm, that spider, as Hugo called him: ‘I would have killed my tyrant without any feeling of distress.’15 20
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         In 1870, fourteen years after Michel’s arrival in Paris, the ‘tyrant’ embarked on a military adventure calculated to bolster support in France at a time when republicanism and socialism were seen as growing challenges to his power. His declaration of war against the North German Federation under Prussia was soon to result in the unification of Germany, disaster for France and disgrace for the emperor. After a calamitous battle with Prussian-German forces at Sedan, on 1 September, 17,000 French soldiers lay dead and Louis-Napoléon was taken prisoner with 100,000 of his troops. The rout wasn’t complete. Prussian and German forces far outnumbering their French counterparts burnt their way, sometimes unhindered, across north-eastern France, laying waste to Michel’s childhood forest in Vroncourt and finally surrounding a restive Paris whose enmity was soon as much for its own failed government as for the forces besieging it. For Michel and her associates, the great destination of their lives was within sight.

         Hugo wrote in his journal that a favoured dish in the besieged city was rat pâté: ‘It is said to be quite good.’16 While trying to keep her students fed, Michel joined the so-called Vigilance Committee of the 18th arrondissement, one of a network of socialist community co-operatives that arranged employment, distributed food and cared for the sick. Her associates were ‘absolutely devoted to the revolution’,17 she wrote. ‘They didn’t define duty according to your sex. That stupid question was finally done with.’ If the question was not quite done with, Michel did enjoy a growing respect among her group. But it was her willingness to take up arms, when the time came – her seeming blitheness about which end of a carbine’s barrel she was looking down – that turned her into a subject deemed worthy of biography. 21

         Louis-Napoléon’s Second Empire was overthrown and a provisional Government of National Defence established, including Michel’s friends Henri Rochefort and Victor Hugo, only for it to surrender in January 1871. With Paris still blockaded and most of the regular French army dead, injured or taken prisoner, the defence of the capital fell to the republican National Guard, a force of some 300,000 untrained men, mostly from working-class Paris neighbourhoods, who were incensed by the government’s capitulation.

         In February 1871 a new republican government was elected under Adolphe Thiers, former prime minister and opponent of Louis-Napoléon, who signed an armistice with Prussia’s Bismarck. A month later, in a liberated Paris, the Commune was born, backed by the National Guard and supported by some 80 per cent of the city’s electorate. Hugo deemed the Commune ‘an admirable thing’, albeit ‘stupidly compromised’ by a spirit of vengeance. This new government demanded a ‘system of communal insurance against all social risk’ and an end to ‘pauperism’ through the redistribution of wealth. And it really was a government. Among its first acts were the abolition of military conscription, child labour and the death penalty, the separation of Church and State, and the adoption of the French Revolutionary Calendar, last used in 1805, with its ten-day week, and months named after the prevailing weather.

         On 18 March – ‘28 Ventôse’ – Thiers sent thousands of French troops into Paris (many of them recently released by their German captors) to take control of cannon held by the National Guard. Barricades were constructed and crowds swelled around the troops attempting to extract the weapons, cutting the horses’ harnesses and pelting the soldiers with bottles. In Montmartre, General Claude Lecomte commanded his troops to fire on the crowd. The men refused, and turned the muzzles of their rifles to the ground. Taken prisoner by the National Guard, Lecomte was marched to 22their headquarters on rue de Rosiers, with another general, Clément Thomas, who was notorious among socialist Parisians for his involvement in suppressing the uprising of 1848. Recognising both men, a crowd dragged them to a garden at the rear of the building. Michel was present, though the extent of her involvement would be disputed at her trial. Lecomte pleaded for his life – ‘I have a wife, children!’ – before he and Clément Thomas were shot dead. The latter ‘died well’,18 according to Michel. Paris had defended its right to autonomy. ‘On this day,19 the eighteenth of March, the people wakened. If they had not, it would have been the triumph of some king; instead it was a triumph of the people.’

         Seeing the shoots emerging of a world she had imagined since childhood, Michel was delirious with excitement, the excitement of the eager martyr. As death loomed she was reborn. She was zealous, and frightening as zealots tend to be when they imagine victory, and seems to have had no fear of pain, let alone of being killed. ‘People say I’m brave,’20 she wrote later. ‘Not really. There is no heroism; people are simply entranced by events.’ And yet she never seems entranced, only clear-eyed and purposeful.

         On 7 April the guillotine on place Voltaire was burnt down to the cheers of a huge crowd. Thiers’ new government and army, meanwhile, having decamped to nearby Versailles, proceeded to shell the rebel capital, killing and injuring hundreds.

         Michel had been serious about killing Louis-Napoléon. She was only thwarted in attempting to assassinate Thiers because she was unable to get close enough. At first her work was mainly as an ambulancière, caring for the wounded, but by mid-April she was fighting with the 61st National Guard battalion at Issy and Clamart, armed with a Remington carbine – a ‘good weapon’. At the barricade on rue Perronet in Neuilly,21 she entered a deserted church. Moments later those outside heard the sound of organ music, which only stopped 23when a captain burst in and furiously ordered her to stop playing before she drew enemy fire.

         ‘There is an energetic woman fighting in the ranks of the 61st battalion,’22 ran a report in the Commune’s daily journal. ‘She has killed several constables and police officers.’ Her friend George Clemenceau, having seen her fighting at Issy, noted that she killed only to avoid death herself: ‘I have never seen her so calm,’ he added, unnerved as much as admiring. ‘How she escaped being killed a hundred times over before my eyes I’ll never know.’ But her survival, during the Commune as in her later life, had less to do with an instinct for self-preservation, and more with that peculiar blitheness with which she apprehended death – not steeliness, exactly, just a simple incapacity to recognise mortality as anything intimate.

         On 16 May 1871 came an event that marked the irreversible end of the old order, at the same time as it ushered in the most terrible week the city had ever seen – la semaine sanglante. ‘Bloody’, in this formulation, was not a euphemism.

         The Vendôme column, with its statue of Napoleon Bonaparte, represented all that was loathsome about imperial France, according to the Communards: ‘a monument to barbarism,23 a symbol of brute force and false glory, an affirmation of militarism, a negation of international law, a permanent insult to the conquered by the conquerors, and a perpetual attack against one of the three great principles of the French republic, fraternity’. That morning, thousands of Parisians gathered around its base while musicians played songs of revolution. At 2 p.m. cables attached to the column were pulled by a team of horses, only to snap under the strain. It took more than three hours for the cables to be reattached and the column finally to tilt, totter and snap in two as it crashed to the ground. On the rubble-strewn plinth a flagpole was erected and a red flag raised – symbol of the Commune, symbol of liberty. But any mood of jubilance, or 24hopefulness, was short-lived. In the following week at least 35,000 Parisians were killed by government troops. A familiar scene, an old one: burning homes, bombed homes, collapsing homes, children shrouded in soot. Fire as a weapon, smoke welcomed for masking the smell of putrefaction, smoke that cast the city into such darkness that it ‘had the effect of an eclipse’,24 according to one witness; another, Gustave Flaubert, described the atmosphere in the city as ‘totally epileptic’.25 Michel was gruesomely unfazed. ‘I love the cannon, the smell of powder, machine-gun bullets in the air.’

         In her memoirs she recalled a particular night, soon after the felling of the Vendôme column, when she and a brigade of Communards were defending Montmartre Cemetery. ‘Shells tore the air, marking time like a clock,’ she remembered; and yet for her ‘it was magnificent in the clear night, where the marble statues on the tombs seemed to be alive’. Perhaps that was the source of her fearlessness, to count herself already among the dead. The Versaillais, as the government troops were known, revenged themselves for their humiliation at Sedan on their fellow citizens – some of whom had defended Paris against the same Prussian enemy months earlier. Finding that a Communard captain they were seeking was not at his home, they instead shot his twelve-year-old son. Another boy, suspected of manning a barricade, was found hiding beneath a woman’s skirts, dragged out and shot. A funeral cortège of a boy killed in shelling was itself shelled and his family scattered with his body parts. Quartier by quartier, the Commune’s barricades were overrun and those defending them (those who survived) taken prisoner, more often shot.
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         At Place Vendôme thirty prisoners were shot in reprisal for the destruction of the column. Communards seeking sanctuary at the Church of 25the Madeleine were shot, 300 of them. Around the Pantheon, 700. In the Jardin du Luxembourg as many as 3,000. Outside the Théâtre Français on rue Richelieu a ditch was filled with the dead. Blood oozed from tarpaulined heaps in the Tuileries and the courtyard of the Church of the Assumption. Rape and torture were ubiquitous. To be caught with a recoil bruise to the shoulder was as good as a death sentence, but even a working-class accent or a foreign-sounding name sufficed to seal your fate. All across Paris, as the Commune fell, groups of prisoners, men and women and children, were gunned down. The streets were littered with corpses – corners, squares and parks, cemeteries and vacant lots. The killing was on a scale far greater than both the Terror of 1793–4 and the June Days uprising of 1848. Indeed, Paris had seen nothing like it since the anti-Protestant massacres of 1572, and France would not again witness slaughter on such a scale, or of such barbarism, or of such efficiency, until the First World War. The army had become a ‘vast execution squad’,26 according to one contemporary commentator. Not that the Communards were innocent of atrocity. On 24 May, six hostages were shot, the Archbishop Darboy and five clerics – the pretext Thiers needed to intensify his attack.

         In a speech he gave that day he boasted that his forces had shed blood in ‘torrents’. On rue Marcadet, one witness recalled, a stream ‘ran with blood as in a street next to the slaughterhouses’.27 Imagining the scene, the sheer lavishness of the slaughter, it seems extraordinary that the city ever recovered, that Michel or anyone else who witnessed the events strolled its boulevards again without collapsing in revulsion.

         But for all the blood (every account lingers on it), it’s not reds I see when I try to visualise Paris in those days – foaming along the banks of the Seine or darkening in the gutters or coagulating between paving slabs – but white: the smirched white of the powdered quicklime, calcium oxide, that was scattered over the dead to slow decomposition, tonnes of it dusting beards and pavements, caked on people’s 26soles, whipped into plumes by the spring breeze. It haunted Michel. That mantle. Years later she remembered the streets ‘dappled white as if by apple blossom’.

         Her only injuries, meanwhile, as the Commune fell, were a bullet-grazed ear, a twisted ankle and a hat riddled with carbine holes. Any psychic wounds are harder to assess. How did she close herself to what she had witnessed, not to mention what she faced afterwards? How did she absorb that defeat? Hope was unquenchable in her. It was only after I returned from New Caledonia that I understood that she wasn’t heartless, as has often been said (of a part with her ‘manliness’ and all the other jibes), but on the contrary that the source of her strength and her guts was an overabundance of love. She was the person she had always been, the person who had wept for a trapped wolf in the Vroncourt forest and whose girlhood companion had been a barn owl ‘with phosphorescent eyes’. When the army detained her mother, she didn’t think twice. She surrendered, content that she would be shot, or tried and then shot, but that Marianne would be allowed to live.
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         Michel was taken to a detention camp on the plains of Satory, south of Versailles, where she and her fellow prisoners were marched through night-time rain and mud to a ravine. They would not be shot tonight but tomorrow night – so they were told; but the next night she was spared. At the Lobau barracks on the city’s rue de Rivoli, meanwhile, as many as 1,200 Communard prisoners were summarily shot on a single night. According to Michel, the swallows newly arrived from Africa that spring were ‘poisoned by the flies that had been feeding in that enormous charnel house’.

         In September, from prison, she wrote to her friend and fellow Communard Théophile Ferré, himself awaiting sentencing, assuring 27him that they would set sail for New Caledonia together, when the time came, for exile surely awaited them. She had had visions! she went on, visions of ‘the great oak forest of Haute-Marne, the old tumbledown chateau where I was raised and where I heard the wolves howl in winter …’ Again and again she returned to Vroncourt. Ferré, meanwhile, executed soon after, was never to see New Caledonia.
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         Parisians wanted to know what the infamous creature looked like. A photograph was taken and printed up as a postcard. A small rose, the red rose of socialism, pinned to her breast, is her sole adornment. You can imagine her fixing the members of the tribunal with those same large eyes, that same steady gaze; without vanity; quite at ease, if a bit cross: she does not like the photographer, Eugène Appert, celebrated portraitist, enemy of the Commune. Get on with it, man.

         As a prisoner of war she was court-martialled in Versailles on 16 December 1871, charged with insurrection, fomenting civil war, carrying and using weapons, forgery and complicity (if not participation) in illegal arrests, torture, murder and, most damningly, the killing of Lecomte and Clément Thomas at rue des Rosiers.

         She refused a lawyer and repudiated only what she regretted and refuted only what she knew to be untrue. She was, for example, not short, as the charge sheet had it; just look at her (the Ministry of War’s own records from the day):28

         
            Height: 1.64 metres

            Hair: brown

            Eyebrows: brown

            Eyes: brown

            Nose: large

            Mouth: average

            Chin: round

            Face: oval

            Complexion: regular28
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         29It was alleged – the Commune’s opponents being eager to associate it with international socialism – that she had both conspired with ‘foreigners and rascals who had come from every corner of the globe’ and fought on the frontline during the battles at Clamart, Montmartre and Issy. The second charge was true enough. ‘What was the motive that pushed her down this irrevocable path of politics and revolution?’ The answer was self-evident: ‘Clearly, it was arrogance.’

         
            Louise Michel was an illegitimate child reared by charity.29 Instead of thanking Providence for giving her the means to live happily with her mother, she surrendered to her heated imagination and excitable character. Breaking with her benefactors, she ran to Paris for adventure.

         

         She would not have objected to being called a ‘she-wolf, eager for blood’, and she had never denied she was a ‘bastard’ (on the contrary), but noted that she was raised not by charity or benefaction but by her mother and her grandparents. Lifting her black veil, she stared at the judges (yeux: marron): ‘I declare that I accept responsibility for all my actions. I accept it entirely and without reservations.’

         She had not participated in the murders of Lecomte and Clément Thomas, and had not expected them to be killed; unlike M. Thiers and the forces represented by the court, she added, she abhorred the killing of prisoners. But yes, she was a member of the Commune, and proud; nor did she see anything wrong with violence in the name of justice. 30

         But – what was the point in defending herself to men whose minds were made up? ‘We never wanted anything but the triumph of the great principles of Revolution.’

         ‘You claim that you didn’t approve of the generals’ assassinations,’ said the judge. ‘On the contrary, people say that when you were told about it you cried out: “They shot them. Serves them right.”’

         If she had said that, she answered, it was purely with the intention of ‘spurring on revolutionary zeal’.

         Did she have anything to add in her defence?

         ‘Since it seems that any heart that beats for liberty has the right only to a small lump of lead, I demand my share. If you let me live, I will not stop crying for vengeance, and I will denounce the assassins of the Board of Pardons to the vengeance of my brothers—’

         The judge intervened, ‘I cannot allow you to continue speaking if you continue in this tone.’

         ‘I have finished … If you are not cowards, kill me.’30

         Learning that she was to be deported to a ‘fortified place’, she told the court she would prefer death. Only later did she consider that her sentence had been a kind of deliverance: ‘It was better to be somewhere else, and so not see the collapse of our dreams.’ To her mother she wrote words of comfort: ‘Take heart and above all take care,31 that I may see you again. I am not going far.’ The truth, as she knew, was that she was going as far as it was possible to go.

         After more than eighteen months in Auberive Prison she was taken to the port at Rochefort, where Marianne came to see her off: ‘I noticed for the first time that her hair was turning white,’ her daughter recalled.

         While Louis-Napoléon was allowed to go into comfortable self-exile in London (as King Charles X and King Louis-Philippe had before him), Michel was among more than 4,000 Communards sentenced to deportation to France’s South Pacific colony of New 31Caledonia: a vast traumatised army, appalled by its defeat, filled with hatred for its captors, expelled to a distant country of unimaginable foreignness.

         France had been purging itself of ‘undesirables’32 ever since the early eighteenth century, when hundreds of beggars, former prisoners and prostitutes were pressganged from the streets of Paris and transported to Louisiana, which urgently required a colonising population. But it wasn’t until Louis-Napoléon’s Second Empire that exile became an intrinsic element of the French penal system. By the 1870s French Guiana, which had been used as a dumping ground for seditious priests and other such dangerous elements since 1795, was deemed a failure: the ubiquity of endemic diseases meant that exil en Guyane was viewed as all but a sentence of death. Of the 8,000 men (and a handful of women) shipped to the colony between 1852 and 1856, half were dead within five years, a toll worse than Stalinist Siberia. The very system of penal colonialism was born of a recognition that the convict was too valuable as a source of labour to be merely executed, or allowed to die.

         An earlier Napoleon, Bonaparte, had maintained that ‘the best penitentiary system would be one which purged the old world through populating the new’.33 But a committee on deportation established in the aftermath of the Commune maintained that the objective of penal expatriation should also be to civilise its subjects, not just sanitise the metropole or settle the colonies. In the wilderness of the South Seas, wrote the head of the committee, the wretches of the Commune ‘will be led quickly to realise that the laws which govern all societies are eternal and that these laws bear down on all revolts with an ineluctable and necessary authority’.34 Had he encountered Louise Michel, in the flesh, or even seen Appert’s portrait, the utter resoluteness of its subject’s gaze? 32
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            Ghost Mountain

            
        Dinuzulu kaCetshwayo
      

         

         Dinuzulu, Cetshwayo’s son, aged about twenty, at the Pietermaritzburg police barracks in the then British colony of Natal, southeastern Africa. It is November 1888 and he has just been induced to surrender. The photo is a mugshot, but also an ethnographic record, also a trophy. He was born in north-west Zululand, the region from which the nation emerged in the eighteenth century. As a baby he was ‘Mahalena-who-comes-from-oNdini’,1 according to the Zulu historian Magema Fuze. When his father was crowned in 1873, he commissioned the building of a huge umuzi, or royal homestead: oNdini, the nation’s capital. He granted his young son his royal name, Dinuzulu, from either udin’uZulu, ‘he wearies the Zulus’ or, conversely, udinwa nguZulu, ‘he is wearied by the Zulus’. Either way, it seems Cetshwayo had a presentiment of how the boy’s life would turn out.

         The new capital, in the dry thorn-bush country of the Mahlabathini Plain, was named to denote its impregnability, oNdini meaning rim or escarpment. It housed several thousand people, as many as 5,000 during feasts and festivals. Elliptical in shape, like most Zulu 34homesteads, it was ringed by a double palisade, the outer one of sharpened timbers, the inner of rushes. In its centre was a parade ground where the king inspected his men and where the royal cattle were kept.

         The king’s own hut and those of his wives stood in a fenced enclosure at the homestead’s northern edge, while Dinuzulu and his royal sisters slept in the adjoining enclosure. To the rear was a rise from which the king could survey oNdini. Standing there, if he had dared trespass, Dinuzulu would have seen, scattered across the plain, several minor homesteads, and the royal cattle known as inyonikayiphumuli, ‘the bird that never rests’. To the north was the Hlophekhulu Mountain, source of the spring reserved for his father’s drinking water; to the south, the Mbilane Stream, from which the royal bathwater was drawn, and which, further south, fed into the fuming White Umfolozi. Beyond that river’s far bank, some fifteen miles away, was eMakhosini, the Valley of the Kings, where Dinuzulu’s ancestors, the founders of the Zulu kingdom, are buried. And somewhere between the river and the sacred valley was KwaNkatha, the place of execution.

         The most intimate account of daily life in oNdini comes from one of Cetshwayo’s teenage servants,2 Paulina Dlamini, who was interviewed by a missionary after converting to Christianity. Dinuzulu would be woken by the dawn song of praise to the king:

         
            We had to rise forthwith, tidy the huts and sweep the yard. At sunrise the king emerged from his hut. By that time everything had to be tidy and orderly. As soon as he appeared, his manservants came forward; if the king wished to go on an early morning hunt, they fetched the sporting guns from the ‘black house’. When he left, the whole umuzi appeared as if deserted, yet it was full of people; but no one was allowed to show himself.

         

         35In the afternoon, when Dinzulu’s father was ready to eat, the people of oNdini would be warned to keep hidden and silent. The penalty for disobedience could be severe. Dlamini remembered the construction of the king’s black house, whitewashed and glazed in the European style, where he kept his rifles and convened the royal council. The builders, from a nearby Christian mission, were to be waited upon by two of her fellow serving girls. When Cetshwayo happened to ask the men if they had eaten well, he was told no food had been arranged. The girls were confronted and, giving no explanation (perhaps they were too scared to speak), were taken to KwaNkatha. ‘We did not consider their neglect of duty sufficiently severe to merit the death penalty,’ said Dlamini.

         Death, and the world of the dead, were close. Before the young man, like a meal laid out, was his kingdom by ancestral right, the abode of the amadlozi, spirits of his ancestors, who not only reside in the earth but are synonymous with it. But any safety he felt was to be short-lived, for those five years were the last settled ones he would know. When the British invaded in 1879, under the casus belli of Cetshwayo’s refusal to disband his military regiments, oNdini was destroyed, the royal cattle were seized and more than a thousand Zulus killed. It was partly plain revenge for the shock defeat Cetshwayo’s forces had dealt the British at the Battle of Isandlwana six months earlier, when an army of 20,000 Zulus had killed more than 1,300 British and colonial troops in Britain’s greatest military disaster in nearly a century. ONdini burnt for four days, leaving nothing but potsherds and bones, and the discs of clay, fired hard by the flames, which had once been the floors of the royal huts.
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         36Dinuzulu’s friend and tutor Magema Fuze put it bluntly: ‘When Dinuzulu was still a boy of about ten years,3 the European [that is to say British] army invaded and destroyed the nation.’

         Captured by the British and confined to Cape Town, almost 900 miles from oNdini, his father Cetshwayo was obliged to watch from afar while the Zulu kingdom was partitioned once more, into thirteen chieftaincies. Banishment had been a weapon of the British in Africa since the Frontier Wars of the early nineteenth century, when captured Xhosa warriors had been exiled to Robben Island off Cape Town. Britain’s priority in Zululand would continue to be the suppression of any flicker of centralised indigenous power.

         Cetshwayo’s greatest ally in exile was his friend John Colenso, known to Zulus as Sobantu (‘father of the people’), Bishop of Natal, lifelong irritant to the British, and an outspoken critic of the invasion. By the established Church,4 Colenso had been despised as a dissident since as long ago as 1862, when he published a volume of biblical commentary widely regarded as heretical. The missionary, they said, had been turned away from Christian truth by the heathen subjects of his mission. His role as thorn in the British side was inherited by his daughter, Harriette. It was through the father and daughter’s insistent petitioning of the government in London that Cetshwayo was finally given leave to make his case to the queen in person.

         The first Zulu king to visit Britain, in 1882, he adopted European dress for the occasion – the swagger stick replacing the knobkerry, the three-piece suit replacing the beshu, the top hat covering the isicoco. The press and public in London beheld him with dazzled perplexity. ‘The crowd was so great I was afraid to venture into the street,’5 wrote one Londoner. ‘I saw him capitally.’ Cetshwayo’s presence brought home to the London public the reality of Britain’s colonial engagements. If France’s consolidation of its Pacific possessions, such as New Caledonia, had been partly a bid to demonstrate its clout after the 37‘humiliation’ of Sedan, then Britain’s tightening grip on south-eastern Africa was in part a competitive reaction to the deutsche Weltpolitik of a Germany newly unified following the Franco-Prussian War.

         His outfit was understood to be in the nature of a genuflection; so too was his journey itself. After the briefest of audiences with Queen Victoria at her residence on the Isle of Wight, it was agreed that Cetshwayo would return to Zululand under the terms of a new partition, which saw the consolidation of the nation’s thirteen chiefdoms into three parts: Cetshwayo’s kingdom, much reduced, was sandwiched between a new British Reserve Territory to the south-west and, to the north-east, the enlarged domain of his former subordinate – and now British loyalist – Zibhebhu kaMaphitha, chief of the Mandlakazi branch of the royal family, and a famously formidable military leader. You may return to your kingdom, then, provided you accept it is yours no longer. Cetshwayo’s son, many years later, would be obliged to make a similar concession.
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         In July 1883, just five months after his return, Cetshwayo’s rebuilt oNdini was destroyed by Zibhebhu’s troops during a surprise night-time attack. The assault followed the Battle of Msebe, in which Cetshwayo’s brother Ndabuko had led an attack on Zibhebhu’s homestead only to be ambushed by Zibhebhu. Ndabuko lost more than 1,000 men; Zibhebhu, ten. The failure would haunt Ndabuko. At oNdini, fifteen weeks later, along with several of his senior chiefs and advisers, three of Cetshwayo’s wives were killed, and his baby son, Nyoniyentaba (‘mountain bird’), stabbed to death in his mother’s arms. One of Zibhebhu’s British mercenaries remembered the slaughter with the wet-lipped relish of every career killer, particularly the murder of Cetshwayo’s chiefs: ‘Being all fat and big-bellied,6 they had 38no chance of escape; and one of them was actually run to earth and stabbed to death by one of my little mat bearers.’ Dinuzulu, who was about sixteen, escaped on horseback with his uncle Ndabuko. Cetshwayo, meanwhile, having been injured, fled to the dense mist forest of Nkandla, ancient asylum of Zulu royalty. On 8 February 1884, not long after news reached him of the death of his ‘father’, John Colenso, he too died. The British doctor’s report blamed ‘fatty degeneration of the heart’.7

         As tradition dictated, the king’s body was wrapped in a bull’s hide and strapped sitting to the central post of a closed hut, to desiccate in the smoke of a fire of aromatic woods. The British resident commissioner, Melmoth Osborn, forbade his burial in the eMakhosini Valley, where the Inkatha yezwe yakwaZulu was kept, the sacred coil of grasses that symbolise Zulu nationhood and unity, whose previous incarnation had been destroyed by the British in 1879. To hold the ceremony there would only encourage unrest, Osborn maintained; and so after two months the king was still above ground. This was the depth of the white man’s power: to dictate the body’s whereabouts even in death, even as it ceased to be identifiable. While Dinuzulu remained in hiding in Nkandla, Ndabuko was finally allowed to take his brother’s body by ox wagon to the Bhophe Ridge, deep in the forest, where it was buried on 10 April along with the broken-up wagon and the sacrificed oxen. Cetshwayo had become umuntu oshonileyo,8 finally, ‘one who has gone down’.

         Because his mother, Novimbi Msweli, was a commoner, Dinuzulu carried the taint of illegitimacy. And so when Cetshwayo died there were other contenders to the Zulu chieftaincy, including a half-brother of Dinuzulu’s. His uncle, Ndabuko, and his half-uncle, Shingana, eager to validate Dinuzulu’s succession, had been at Cetshwayo’s deathbed. As reported by them,9 the old king’s dying words were, ‘Mpande, my father, left the country to me; I, Cetshwayo, leave 39the country to my son Dinuzulu.’ And so Dinuzulu was proclaimed king. But Magema Fuze recorded Cetshwayo’s last words differently: they were spoken not to his brother and half-brother, he maintained, but directly to his son: ‘As soon as you have buried my body, mobilise the Zulu nation and attack Zibhebhu and fight against him. You will defeat him, for I will be in the midst of my army.’
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